A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1.  The evidence was insufficient to support the jury’s verdict that 

Mr. Dutcher committed third degree child molestation. 

2.  The trial court violated Mr. Dutcher’s right to a unanimous 

verdict when it failed to instruct the jury on unanimity. 

3.  The trial court erred by ordering Mr. Dutcher not to purchase, 

possess, or view any pornographic material in any form as a sentencing 

condition.  

4.  The trial court erred by ordering Mr. Dutcher to submit to 

plethysmograph examinations as directed by his community corrections 

officer as a sentencing condition.  

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Were Mr. Dutcher’s state and federal constitutional due process 

rights violated where the State failed to prove third degree child 

molestation because it did not show Mr. Dutcher acted with the purpose of 

sexual gratification? 

2. Was Mr. Dutcher denied his constitutional right to a unanimous 

jury verdict where the State relied on multiple criminal acts as a basis for 

conviction on a single count of third degree child molestation and the court 

did not instruct the jury to be unanimous? 
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3.  Is the sentencing condition prohibiting the purchase, possession 

or viewing of “any pornographic material in any form” unconstitutionally 

vague? 

4.  Does the sentencing condition requiring Mr. Dutcher to submit 

to plethysmograph examinations as directed by his community corrections 

officer violate his right to be free from bodily intrusion? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The State charged Jason Lee Dutcher with one count of third 

degree child molestation and one count of indecent liberties.  Clerk’s 

Papers (CP) 29-30.  The child molestation charge alleged that 20-year-old 

Mr. Dutcher had sexual contact with 14-year-old H.N.D. on January 3, 

2012: 

On or about the 3rd day of January, 2012, in the County of 

Grant, State of Washington, the above-named Defendant, 

being at least forty-eight (48) months older than the victim, 

had sexual contact with another person who was at least 

fourteen (14) years old but less than sixteen (16) years old 

and not married to the Defendant, to-wit: HND, 

02/10/1997; contrary to Revised code of Washington 

9A.44.089. 

 

CP 29.  The case proceeded to jury trial.  1RP
1
 2.  

                                                 
1
 “1RP” refers to Volume I of III of the verbatim report of proceedings dated June 12, 

2013. Volume II of III dated June 13, 2013, will be cited as “2RP,” Volume III of III 

dated June 14, 2013, will be cited as “3RP.”  
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At trial, the State presented testimony from H.N.D., her mother 

(Judy Diamond), their housemate (Stephanie Long), and Deputy Darrik 

Gregg.  2RP 49-236. 

H.N.D., born February 10, 1997, testified that, on January 3, 2012, 

Mr. Dutcher, a family friend, touched her.  2RP 49, 51, 63, 68.  H.N.D., 

Mr. Dutcher, and H.N.D.’s friend, Shana, had been watching a movie on 

H.N.D.’s bed around midnight.  2RP 52-53.  H.N.D. fell asleep between 

her two friends before the movie was over.  2RP 54-56, 59.  She woke up 

when she felt Mr. Dutcher touch her for a few seconds on her left side 

between her rib cage and her hip and then removed his hand.  2RP 60, 92.  

One minute later, Mr. Dutcher reached under her panties and touched her 

clitoris for a few seconds.  2RP 61, 63, 92-93, 97.  On direct examination, 

H.N.D. said Mr. Dutcher next pulled his penis out of his pants and rubbed 

it on her.  2RP 64-65.  But, during cross-examination, she testified she was 

not sure he pulled his penis out and did not feel his penis.  2RP 64, 102.   

She believed he thrust his hips into her back for a couple seconds a few 

minutes after touching her clitoris.  2RP 98, 102-05.  Mr. Dutcher then 

tried to reach up her shirt, but she pulled her knees to her chest, crossed 

her arms, and told him to keep his hands to himself.  2RP 63, 66.  Mr. 
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Dutcher never said a word.  2RP 109.  He did not threaten her.  2RP 112.  

He rolled over and appeared to be sleeping.  2RP 66.   

Thirty minutes to an hour later, H.N.D. got out of bed.  2RP 67.  

Mr. Dutcher did not try to stop her from leaving the bed or the room.  2RP 

112.  Across the hall from H.N.D.’s room was the room of Stephanie 

Long, a woman who lived in the same home as H.N.D. and her family.  

2RP 67.  H.N.D. went into Ms. Long’s room and asked her to make Mr. 

Dutcher leave.  2RP 67.  Ms. Long woke Mr. Dutcher and confronted him 

with H.N.D.’s allegations.  2RP 180.  Mr. Dutcher told Ms. Long that he 

had been sleeping and did not know what she was talking about.  2RP 181.  

Ms. Long told Mr. Dutcher to leave the house, so he did.  2RP 181.  

Deputy Gregg testified that he met with Mr. Dutcher at the Airway 

Deli later on January 3.  2RP 223.  The deputy disclosed H.N.D.’s 

allegations to Mr. Dutcher.  2RP 223.  Mr. Dutcher was advised of and 

waived his Miranda
2
 rights.  2RP 227.  He told Deputy Gregg that he was 

born on September 21, 1991, and confirmed he had watched a movie in 

H.N.D.’s bedroom.  2RP 224-25.  He said Ms. Long had awakened him, 

accusing him of grabbing H.N.D.  2RP 226.  Mr. Dutcher said he 

sometimes pulls people close to him when he sleeps.  2RP 226.  But he 

                                                 
2
 Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966). 
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denied touching H.N.D.  2RP 231.  Deputy Gregg arrested Mr. Dutcher 

after their conversation.  2RP 229. 

James Kindred, a private investigator hired by the defense, testified 

he interviewed H.N.D. on July 26, 2012.  3RP 269.  During the interview, 

H.N.D. denied that Mr. Dutcher penetrated her with his fingers.  3RP 281.  

She had told him only that Mr. Dutcher “reached down there.”  3RP 281.  

On recall, Deputy Gregg also confirmed H.N.D. never told him that Mr. 

Dutcher touched her clitoris.  3RP 300.   

 Counsel and the court reviewed the court’s proposed jury 

instructions after the close of evidence.  3RP 315.  Neither attorney 

objected to any of the instructions.  3RP 315.  The instructions given to the 

jury contained no unanimity instruction for the charge of child molestation 

in the third degree.  CP 34-44.  The State also did not elect one act from 

among the several acts it presented as the basis for the single child 

molestation charge.  3RP 328-43, 370-79.  The State relied on several of 

the alleged acts.  3RP 333, 336, 340, 374.  

The jury found Mr. Dutcher guilty of third degree child molestation 

and not guilty of indecent liberties.  CP 45-46.  A jury poll confirmed that 

each general verdict was unanimous.  3RP 386-89, 389-91.  
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The court sentenced Mr. Dutcher to nine months of confinement 

and 12 months of community custody.  CP 64-65.  It also required Mr. 

Dutcher to “submit to plethysmograph[s] as directed by supervising 

Community Corrections Officers.”  CP 81.  And it prohibited him from 

“purchas[ing], possess[ing] or view[ing] any pornographic material in any 

form.  This includes but is not limited to cell phones, videos, books, 

magazines, internet, or chat rooms.”  CP 80. 

 Mr. Dutcher appealed.  CP 82–83. 

C. ARGUMENT 

1.  Mr. Dutcher’s state and federal constitutional due process 

rights were violated because the State produced insufficient evidence 

of third degree child molestation by failing to show Mr. Dutcher acted 

with the purpose of sexual gratification. 

The State produced insufficient evidence of sexual contact because 

it did not show Mr. Dutcher was awake during the alleged contact.  A 

challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence implicates the State’s burden 

of production.  State v. Henjum, 136 Wn. App. 807, 810, 150 P.3d 1170 

(2007).  The question is whether the State produced enough evidence to 

support the sexual contact element of third degree child molestation.  Id.  

The State’s evidence and all reasonable inferences from that evidence are 
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considered to be true.  State v. Jensen, 125 Wn. App. 319, 325, 104 P.3d 

717 (2005).  And the jury is entitled to deference on issues of conflicting 

testimony, witness credibility, and the persuasiveness of the evidence.  

State v. Longuskie, 59 Wn. App. 838, 844, 801 P.2d 1004 (1990). 

Third degree child molestation requires proof of “sexual contact”: 

 

A person is guilty of child molestation in the third degree 

when the person has . . . sexual contact with another who is 

at least fourteen years old but less than sixteen years old 

and not married to the perpetrator and the perpetrator is at 

least forty-eight months older than the victim. 

 

RCW 9A.44.089(1) (emphasis added); CP 41.   

“Sexual contact” is “any touching of the sexual or other intimate 

parts of a person done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desire of either 

party.”  RCW 9A.44.010(2); see also CP 43 (jury instruction defining 

“sexual contact”).  Part of the State’s burden of proving sexual contact is 

its burden to show the defendant acted with a purpose of sexual 

gratification.  State v. Stevens, 158 Wn.2d 304, 309-10, 143 P.3d 817 

(2006).  While sexual gratification is not an explicit element of third 

degree child molestation, the State must prove a defendant acted for the 

purpose of sexual gratification. See id. at 309-10.  “‘Purpose’ and ‘intent’ 

are synonymous for criminal culpability under RCW 9A.08.010(1)(a): ‘A 

person acts with intent or intentionally when he [or she] acts with the 
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objective or purpose to accomplish a result which constitutes a crime.’”  

State v. Woolworth, 30 Wn. App. 901, 905-06, 639 P.2d 216 (1981).  

Thus, intent is relevant to the crime of third degree child molestation 

because it is necessary to prove the element of sexual contact. See Stevens, 

158 Wn.2d at 309-10.  

Here, there was insufficient evidence Mr. Dutcher acted for the 

purpose of sexual gratification.  The State’s evidence showed Mr. Dutcher 

was asleep during the alleged touching.  H.N.D. testified Mr. Dutcher 

never said anything and appeared to be sleeping while the touching 

occurred.   Likewise, Ms. Long and Deputy Gregg testified Mr. Dutcher 

told them he had been asleep during the alleged touching.   

Mr. Dutcher could not have acted with the purpose of sexual 

gratification due to his unconscious state just as a sleeping victim in an 

indecent liberties action is “physically helpless” to communicate a 

willingness to engage in sexual contact due to her unconscious state.  State 

v. Puapuaga, 54 Wn. App. 857, 860, 776 P.2d 170 (1989).  The state of 

sleep affects a victim and a perpetrator the same way – both are 

unconscious and incapable of volitional action.  See State v. Deer, 175 

Wn.2d 725, 287 P.3d 593 (2012) (Wiggins, J., dissenting).  Because Mr. 

Dutcher was asleep during the alleged touching, he was unconscious and 
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could not have formed the necessary intent or purpose to commit child 

molestation.  Mr. Dutcher’s conviction for third degree child molestation 

should be reversed because the evidence does not support a finding of 

sexual contact. 

2.  Mr. Dutcher was denied his constitutional right to a 

unanimous jury verdict where the State relied on multiple criminal 

acts as a basis for conviction on a single count of third degree child 

molestation and the court did not instruct the jury to be unanimous. 

The trial court erred by omitting a unanimity instruction on the 

third degree child molestation charge.  This issue may be raised for the 

first time on appeal even though Mr. Dutcher did not request a unanimity 

instruction at trial.  The lack of instruction violates Mr. Dutcher’s 

constitutional rights to trial by jury and to a unanimous verdict.  State v. 

Coleman, 159 Wn.2d 509, 511-12, 150 P.3d 1126 (2007); State v. Jones, 

71 Wn. App. 798, 821, 863 P.2d 85 (1993).  The issue is reviewed de 

novo.  State v. Cross, 156 Wn.2d 580, 615, 132 P.3d 80 (2006).   

A unanimity instruction (or an election) is required in a multiple 

acts case.  State v. Furseth, 156 Wn. App. 516, 520, 233 P.3d 902 (2010).  

A multiple acts case arises “[w]here the evidence indicates that more than 

one distinct criminal act has been committed but the defendant is charged 
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with only one count of criminal conduct.”  Furseth, 156 Wn. App. at 520 

(quoting State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 411, 756 P.2d 105 (1988)).  

Whether a prosecution constitutes a multiple acts case depends also on the 

proper unit of prosecution of the crime charged.  See Furseth, 156 Wn. 

App. at 520-21.  As noted by this Court, “a defining characteristic of a 

multiple acts case is not only that a single count could be proved by 

evidence of any of the acts but also that each individual act could support a 

single specific count.”  Id. at 522.  

The child molestation prosecution of Mr. Dutcher is a multiple acts 

case.  State v. Soonalole, 99 Wn. App. 207, 992 P.2d 541 (2000).  The 

Soonalole Court analyzed the proper unit of prosecution for third degree 

child molestation under RCW 9A.44.089(1).  99 Wn. App. at 211-12.  The 

court construed the statute as prohibiting each separate act of sexual 

contact.  Id. at 212.  It reasoned that sexual assault victims, especially 

children, are best protected by separately punishing each separate invasion 

of a protected area to ensure consequences for additional sexual assaults 

on the same victim.  Id. at 212-13.  For example, the Court agreed that two 

sexual assaults involving the same victim and location within 25 minutes 

are multiple acts, not one continuous act.  Id. at 214.    
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Here, the State presented evidence of multiple acts, each of which 

could support a single count.  Although the State charged Mr. Dutcher 

with only one count of third degree child molestation, H.N.D. testified that 

Mr. Dutcher touched her clitoris, breasts, and side with his hand and thrust 

his penis or hips into her back.  These five touches constitute five separate 

invasions of a potentially protected area.  Assuming without conceding 

that Mr. Dutcher acted with the purpose of sexual gratification, the jury 

could have relied on any one of these touches to prove the crime of third 

degree child molestation.  Under Soonalole, each of these acts could have 

supported separate, individual counts of third degree child molestation.  

The third degree child molestation prosecution is, therefore, a multiple acts 

case that required a unanimity instruction.  

When the State presents evidence of several acts of like 

misconduct, any one of which could form the basis of one count charged, 

either the State must tell the jury which act to rely on in deliberations or 

the court must instruct the jury to agree on a specific criminal act.  

Coleman, 159 Wn.2d at 511.  If the State fails to elect an act and the trial 

court fails to instruct the jury to be unanimous, constitutional error results 

from the possibility that some jurors may have relied upon one act while 

other jurors may have relied on another act, resulting in lack of unanimity 
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on all of the elements necessary for a valid conviction.  Coleman, 159 

Wn.2d at 512.  Such an error is presumed prejudicial and is harmless only 

if no fact finder could have entertained a reasonable doubt that each act 

established the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.  Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 

405-06. 

Here, the State presented evidence that Mr. Dutcher touched 

H.N.D. five times.  H.N.D. testified that Mr. Dutcher rubbed his penis 

against her back, thrust his hips into her back, and used his hand to touch 

her clitoris, breasts, and side between her hip and rib cage.  The State did 

not tell the jury which of these acts to rely upon in its deliberations.  

Instead, in closing, the State relied on each of these touches to argue that 

Mr. Dutcher molested H.N.D.  Because the State failed to elect an act 

upon which to base its charge, the court was required to instruct the jury to 

be unanimous.  But the court did not instruct the jury to agree on a single, 

specific criminal act.  The lack of unanimity instruction is presumed to be 

prejudicial error.  Id. 

The presumption of prejudice is not rebutted here because this 

Court cannot be sure that all jurors agreed that one of the several acts in 

evidence constituted the sexual contact establishing the child molestation 

charge.  A reasonable juror could have entertained a reasonable doubt that 
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some of the touches established child molestation beyond a reasonable 

doubt.   

H.N.D. described each touch in detail.  Yet some evidence 

weakened her story.  H.N.D. offered contradictory testimony.  Defense 

counsel introduced previous contradictory statements by the victim.  And 

Mr. Dutcher denied the allegations. 

 A reasonable juror could have entertained a reasonable doubt about 

whether Mr. Dutcher rubbed his penis on H.N.D.’s back.  While H.N.D. 

testified during direct examination that she thought Mr. Dutcher pulled out 

his penis and rubbed it on her, she contradicted herself on cross-

examination, testifying that she was not certain Mr. Dutcher pulled out his 

penis and rubbed it on her.  She said she neither felt nor saw his penis.  

Any one of the jurors also could have reasonably doubted that Mr. 

Dutcher molested Ms. Dutcher by touching her side between her rib cage 

and hip or by touching the small of her back.  The trial court 

acknowledged that whether a person’s side is an intimate body part is a 

question for the jury, citing In re the Welfare of Adams, 24 Wn. App. 517, 

520, 601 P.2d 995 (1979), for support.  2RP 263-64.  In Adams, the 

primary question was whether evidence that the defendant touched the 

victim’s hips constituted sexual contact of “other intimate parts” in an 
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indecent liberties case.  Id. at 518-19.  The Court there concluded that 

“[t]he determination of which anatomical areas apart from the genitalia 

and breasts are intimate is a question to be resolved by the trier of the 

facts.”  Id. at 520.  The definition of “sexual contact” that applies to 

indecent liberties also applies to third degree child molestation.  See RCW 

9A.44.010(2).  Thus, some jurors could have doubted that H.N.D.’s side 

and back constituted “other intimate parts” of her body for the purposes of 

establishing third degree child molestation’s sexual contact element.   

A juror could have reasonably doubted that Mr. Dutcher actually 

touched H.N.D.’s breasts.  H.N.D. testified that Mr. Dutcher tried to reach 

up her shirt and touch her breasts.  2RP 64, 108-09.  She said she pulled 

her knees to her chest and crossed her arms across her chest so Mr. 

Dutcher could not reach up her shirt.  2RP at 65.  Based on her testimony, 

a reasonable juror could have concluded that Mr. Dutcher did not touch 

H.N.D.’s breasts.   

Finally, a reasonable juror could have entertained a reasonable 

doubt as to whether Mr. Dutcher touched H.N.D.’s clitoris.  Trial was the 

first time H.N.D. claimed Mr. Dutcher touched her clitoris.  When 

interviewed by Mr. Kindred in July 2012, H.N.D. denied that Mr. Dutcher 

penetrated her vagina with his fingers.  3RP 281.  She told Mr. Kindred 
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only that Mr. Dutcher “reached down there.”  3RP 281.  Deputy Gregg 

also confirmed H.N.D. never told him that Mr. Dutcher touched her 

clitoris.  3RP 300.  A juror could have reasonably doubted that Mr. 

Dutcher touched H.N.D.’s clitoris based on her prior statements.  

Any one of the five acts alleged by H.N.D. could have satisfied the 

sexual contact element of third degree child molestation (assuming 

without conceding that Mr. Dutcher was conscious and acting with the 

purpose of sexual gratification when each touching occurred).  But a 

reasonable juror could have entertained a reasonable doubt that each act 

occurred.  It is, therefore, possible that one or more jurors might have 

relied on an act that others did not.  Accordingly, the court’s failure to 

provide the jury with a unanimity instruction is not harmless.  Mr. 

Dutcher’s conviction for child molestation in the third degree should be 

reversed. 

3.  The sentencing condition prohibiting purchasing, possessing 

or viewing “any pornographic materials in any form” is 

unconstitutionally vague.  

The court erred by imposing an unconstitutionally vague 

sentencing condition prohibiting Mr. Dutcher from purchasing, possessing 

or viewing “any pornographic materials in any form.”  Ripe pre-
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enforcement “[v]agueness challenges to conditions of community custody 

may be raised for the first time on appeal.”  State v. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739, 

745, 751, 193 P.3d 678 (2008).   

A challenge is ripe if it raises a primarily legal issue, it does not 

require further factual development, and the challenged action is final.  Id. 

at 751.  The court also considers whether withholding consideration would 

cause the parties hardship.  Id. at 751.   

The Bahl Court held a pre-enforcement vagueness challenge to a 

pornography sentencing condition like the pornography condition imposed 

here was sufficiently ripe for review because (1) although a defendant is in 

prison, the challenged condition will immediately restrict him upon his 

release; (2) the challenge is purely legal, i.e., whether the condition

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