## **FILED**

MAY 16, 2014

Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

No. 31820-6-III

# COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
State of Washington, Respondent,
v.
Jason Lee Dutcher, Appellant.
BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

GRANT COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE P.O. BOX 37 Ephrata, WA 98823-0037 (509) 754-2011

##

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

Neither "[F]or the purpose of sexual gratification" nor "sexual gratification" is an "essential element" of the crime of child molestation.

State v. Lorenz, 152 Wn.2d 22, 34-35, 93 P.3d 133 (2004). "Rather, the definition of 'sexual contact' clarifies the meaning" of the phrase for the jury. Id. at 34. This part of the definition makes clear that the legislature does not intend to punish inadvertent touching. However, affirmative defenses exist "in order to avoid an unjust conviction" in the context of crimes where mens rea need not be proved. Deer, 175 Wn.2d at 735. Had the legislature meant to make a mens rea an essential element of child molestation, they would have added it to the statute itself: there is no mens rea within the child molestation statute when the contact takes place between the defendant and the child, rather than a third party and the child

(i.e. the statute states "when the person has," not, "when the person knowingly has" or "when the person intentionally has."

The Court in *Deer* gave many policy reasons for why "sleep sex" should be an affirmative defense. First, the Court found no reason to treat "sleep sex" differently than involuntary intoxication in sex cases, which is an affirmative defense. *Id.* at 736. Such a distinction would "lead to inconsistency and confusion" since unconsciousness is often connected to claims of intoxication. Id. at 737. Second, the Court noted that being asleep during sexual intercourse (like being asleep during sexual contact) does not change whether the harm, the sexual intercourse itself, has occurred. Id. at 739. Affirmative defenses contemplate that the offense "occurred, but offers an excuse." *Id.* Third, as with similar affirmative defenses, proof that the defendant engaged in "sleep sex" is, "far more likely to be within the defendant's knowledge and ability to establish." *Id.* at 740. After all, "involuntary conduct is a statistical and subjective abnormality; the relevant facts are peculiarly within the knowledge of the accused." Id. All of these reasons apply with equal force to a "sleep sexual contact" defense.

As acting with the purpose of sexual gratification is not an element of the offense of Child Molestation in the Third Degree, and Dutcher did not put forth any evidence at trial that he was actually asleep. The jury found, beyond a reasonable doubt that Dutcher had sexual contact with H.N.D., even though Dutcher's attorney argued that he was asleep at the time of the incident, indicating that they believed even beyond a reasonable doubt that Dutcher acted with the purpose of sexual gratification. Dutcher did not testify, none of the witnesses stated they believed the Dutcher to be asleep during the incident, but instead that he was "pretending" to be asleep. There was no evidence that Dutcher suffered from a sleep disorder that might make involuntary actions during sleep more likely than the average individual. Finally, there was no evidence that Dutcher was under the influence of any substance that might make these actions during sleep plausible.

B. The Court should affirm Dutcher's conviction because a reasonable juror could find that Dutcher was awake during the sexual acts beyond a reasonable doubt.

Even if the Court finds that the State bears the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that Dutcher was not asleep, the Court should still affirm the judgment.

"Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction if, when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, it permits a rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Price*, 127 Wn. App. 193, 201, 110 P.3d 1171 (2005) (*citing State v. Tilton*, 149 Wn.2d 775, 786, 72 P.3d 735 (2003)). "A claim of

insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." *Id.* at 201-202 (*quoting State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992)). The Court "defer[s] to the trier of fact regarding a witness's credibility or conflicting testimony." *Id.* at 202 (*citing State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990)).

State v. Powell, 62 Wn. App. 914, 917, 816 P.2d 86 (1991) review denied, 118 Wn.2d 1013 (1992) found that there was insufficient evidence to support "sexual contact," but noted that the touching was over clothing, "fleeting," and "susceptible of innocent explanation." Price, 127 Wn. App. At 202, on the other hand, found that there was sufficient evidence to support the element when the defendant did not just touch the minor, but "rubbed her vagina."

There was sufficient evidence that Dutcher was awake when he touched H.N.D. First, Dutcher did not touch just any area on H.N.D.'s body, he touched her clitoris: an area so small in relation to the rest of the body that even a fully conscious person with a purpose of touching the organ may have difficulty finding it by touch alone. Second, his fingers did not touch her clitoris fleetingly or as part of a larger movement, his fingers touched her clitoris for at least a few seconds. Third, Dutcher's hand would not have gotten to that location by mere chance, he had to go

under her shorts, under her underwear, and between the two sides of her labia. Assuming some type of automatism rather than chance movement, Dutcher's body and lower brain functions would somehow need to be able to figure out that H.N.D. was present, facing away from him, and how to get to the clitoris with the obstacle of clothing.

Fourth, Dutcher responded to H.N.D.'s movements and words with actions specific to her conduct, not in the way one would expect of an involuntary response or automatism. When H.N.D. moved her body closer to S.V., Dutcher took his hand away. He waited, then touched her clitoris. When H.N.D. moved her legs toward her chest, he again moved his hand away. When H.N.D. stated that Dutcher should keep his hands to himself, he immediately stopped touching her as opposed to the pause from before followed by more touching, "waking up," or continuing as if he did not have the ability to process words.

Fifth, Dutcher performed complicated directed motions to pull his penis out of his pants. He had to take down the zipper and pull his penis out through the hole that provided. Again, these are not random actions and if automatism, one would expect to see Dutcher take his pants off or not respond to H.N.D.'s reactions. While Dutcher argues that there is varied evidence on whether H.N.D. felt Dutcher's penis, she stated she did, and an insufficiency claim admits the truth of the State's evidence.

Sixth, the order of the acts disprove the concept that Dutcher was asleep. H.N.D. did not wake up to Dutcher thrusting or taking some action which could have been unconscious, he began with a side, moved to her clitoris, trying to stimulate her, and only after doing that did he pull out his penis and press it against her in a thrusting motion. These are not random actions or the actions of someone unconsciously trying to orgasm by moving in a way that causes immediate sensation. This is a course of action that seems calculated to try to have a consensual encounter with H.N.D. by first stimulating her sexually.

Seventh, the fact that Dutcher's thrusting was slow enough to only slightly move the bed is more consistent with him being awake and trying not to wake the other person in the bed and stimulate H.N.D. rather than an unconscious attempt at sexual release. If he was just sleeping, it is likely that this movement and stimulation would have waken him.

Eighth, it is inconsistent for Dutcher wake up when Long called to him from the doorway with a raised voice and without shouting, and not when H.N.D. stated that he should keep his hands to himself from very close to his head, when H.N.D. stated she needed to go to the bathroom also very close to his head, and when H.N.D. got out of the bed from her position in between Dutcher and S.V.

Ninth, Dutcher stated "No, no, I didn't do it" in response to H.N.D. leaving the room. This is significant both because it was yet another appropriate reaction in response to an action taken by H.N.D., but because it indicates that he was conscious of what he had done and was trying to keep H.N.D. from telling someone or trying to confuse H.N.D.

For these reasons, the Court should affirm the judgment because the evidence permitts a reasonable trier of fact to find Dutcher guilty of Child Molestation in the Third Degree beyond a reasonable doubt.

# 2. Dutcher's conviction was unanimous under the doctrine of continuous course of conduct.

A defendant may be convicted only "when a unanimous jury concludes the criminal act charged in the information has been committed." *State v. Crane*, 116 Wn.2d 315, 324–25, 804 P.2d 10 (1991) (citing State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 569, 683 P.2d 173 (1984)). Where the State presents evidence of several distinct acts that could form the basis of the count charged, it must tell the jury on which act it must unanimously agree on to convict the defendant. *Id.* at 325.

In *State v. Hanson*, 59 Wn. App. 651, 800 P.2d 1124 (1990), the court held that when determining whether a unanimity instruction should be offered, the reviewing court should consider: first, what must be proven under the applicable statute; second, what the evidence disclosed; and

third, whether the evidence disclosed more than one violation of the statute. *Id.* at 656–57.

However, the courts have repeatedly held that a unanimity instruction is not required where the underlying conduct supporting the charge constitutes a "continuing course of conduct." *See*, *e.g.*, *Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d at 571. The court applies a commonsense evaluation of the facts to determine whether the conduct was "continuous." *Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d at 571; *State v. Handran*, 113 Wn.2d 11, 17, 775 P.2d 453 (1989). In the *Petrich* itself, the Court found important that the acts occurred in "separate time frame[s] and identifying place[s]" with the only connection being the victim. 101 Wn.2d at 571. The events were not "one transaction." *Id*.

In the context of an assault, there are many examples where the courts have determined that several ongoing acts of assault can constitute a continuous course of conduct. For example, in *State v. Craven*, 69 Wn. App. 581, 849 P.2d 681 (1993), the court held a continuous course of conducted existed where the defendant had repeatedly assaulted a child over the course of a three-week period. *Id.* at 589. As a result of the extended assault, the child had suffered bruising on his arms, legs, head, one of his eyes, and head, whip marks on his back from a rope or telephone cord, multiple arm fractures, two burn marks, and abrasions to his ankle and nose. *Id.* at 584. The reviewing court held that the trial court

did not err in failing to give a unanimity instruction because case authority amply "recognize[d] that the continuing course exception can be applied to an assault prosecution in a factually appropriate case." *Id.* at 589.

In *State v. Crane*, 116 Wn.2d 315, the court found a continuous course of conduct existed where the defendant had repeatedly hit and violently shook a child several times over the course of two hours before the boy died from the injuries. *Id.* at 319–24, 330.

In *Handran*, the defendant was charged with burglary in the first degree, with assault as the underlying crime. 113 Wn.2d at 17. The defendant had broken into his ex-wife's apartment in order to secure sexual relations with her. *Id.* at 12, 17. His ex-wife awoke to defendant leaning over her in the nude and kissing her. *Id.* at 12. When she asked him to leave immediately, he pinned her down and hit her in the face. Id. The court upheld the trial court's refusal to issue a unanimity instruction because the assaults (e.g., the kissing, restraint, and punch) occurred in one place during a short period of time, involved the same aggressor and victim, and occurred within the same location. *Id.* at 17.

Here, there is no claim that Dutcher's sexual contacts with a minor occurred with more than one victim, in more than one place, or were separated by any amount of time lasting longer than possibly a few minutes. Dutcher's actions toward H.N.D. consisted of one continuous

transaction during which he tried to stimulate himself and H.N.D. sexually. To hold otherwise would possibly subject defendants to being charged with a count of child molestation for each thrust or individual touch.

The Court should affirm the conviction because the trial court did not err in failing to give a unanimity instruction because the acts in question were part of an single course of conduct.

# 3. The Court should strike the sentencing condition of possessing, viewing, or purchasing "any pornographic material in any form" because it is unconstitutionally vague.

Under the SRA, the court may impose crime-related prohibitions, against "conduct that directly relates to the circumstances of the crime for which the offender has been convicted." RCW 9.94A.030(13), 505(8). Imposition of crime-related prohibitions is at the discretion of the trial judge and will only be reversed if manifestly unreasonable. *State v. Riley*, 121 Wn.2d 22, 37, 846 P.2d 1365 (1993). "[A] statute or condition is presumed to be constitutional unless the party challenging it proves that it is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Smith*, 130 Wn. App. 721, 726-27, 123 P.3d 896 (2005).

"Under the due process clause, a prohibition is void for vagueness if either (1) it does not define the offense with sufficient definiteness such that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited, or (2) it

does not provide ascertainable standards of guilt to protect against arbitrary enforcement." *State v. Sansone*, 127 Wn. App. 630, 638-39, 111 P.3d 1251 (2005). Unconstitutional vagueness means that persons of common intelligence must guess at its meaning and differ as to its application." *City of Spokane v. Douglass*, 115 Wn.2d 171, 179, 795 P.2d 693 (1990).

It has been previously determined in Washington that use of the term "pornography" is unconstitutionally vague in challenges to a similar community custody condition. *Sansone*, 127 Wn. App. at 638; *State v. Bahl*, 164 Wn.2d 739, 758, 193 P.3d 678 (2008). The State concedes that this provision of the sentence should be stricken.

The Court should strike this condition.

# 4. The Court should not strike the sentencing condition of plethysmograph examination as the matter is not ripe for review.

Plethysmograph testing has been found to be an effective method for both diagnosing and treating sex offenders. *State v. Riles*, 135 Wn.2d 326, 343-344, 957 P.2d 655 (1998). The data can be useful in both getting baseline arousal patterns and to assess response to stimuli during the course of therapy. *Id.* at 344. When imposed along with therapy "approved by ...[his] Community Corrections Officer" the Court has held this is a valid condition of sentence. *Id.* at 345. The question in *Riles* was whether

the sentencing court could impose plethysmograph testing without imposing crime-related treatment, which the Court found, it could not. *Id*. Because there are contexts withig Dutcher's sentence in which this testing is lawful, this condition is not "manifestly unreasonable."

This issue is not ripe for review. Unlike possessing pornography, the condition that Dutcher submit to plethysmograph testing does not apply automatically upon release from custody, does not limit his actions in any way, nor is a purely legal challenge (whether the testing is lawful will depend on whether it is ordered as part of treatment). Given that WAC 246-930-310(7)(c) specifies that treatment "[p]roviders shall recognize that plethysmographic data is only meaningful within the context of a comprehensive evaluation and/or treatment process," it is unlikely that plethysmograph testing will ever be required of Dutcher by his Community Custody Official outside of a treatment context. Should this occur, Dutcher has the recourse of refusing the plethysmograph testing and arguing an illegal requirement to the court that reviews the violation, so there is little risk of hardship.

The court should decline to strike this condition.

#### V. CONCLUSION

The Court should affirm Dutcher's conviction because there was substantial evidence that Dutcher was awake at the time he molested

H.N.D. and because there was no evidence that Dutcher was asleep when

he molested H.N.D. The Court should also affirm Dutcher's conviction as

a unanimous decision by the jury because Dutcher's touching of H.N.D.,

though it consisted of several touches, were part of a continuous course of

conduct.

The Court should strike the pornography condition as it is

unconstitutionally vague. However, the Court should not strike the

plethysmograph testing as the matter is not ripe for review. Whether

plethysmograph testing is impermissible is a fact-based inquiry and there

are no facts yet as Dutcher has not, and may never be, ordered to undergo

plethysmograph testing.